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This Interim Report is divided into two parts.

PART 1. This Part sets out in simple narrative form the
history of the Angus aroup of companies’ involvement

in the Fapua New Guinea timber industryj particularly in
the Gadaisu permit area of Central Province., It also sets
aut findings of fact relevant to the Commission’s Terms of

Feference.

An attempt has been made to keep the narrative free
from technical and leqgal jargnn and not to clutter it with
the documentation which supports the findings. This docu-
mentation is set out in appendices however., and there are
frequent references throughout the text to these numbered

Appendices.

Part 1 includes alsco a list of matters which I have
recommended should be reterred to the Commissioner of Folice

and to other authorities for follow—up action.

PART 2. The dopendices are all set ouk in Fart ¥ as

a separate volume of thia Interaim Report. Mot of the
anpendices consist of photocopiles of some of the bey
doruments which were tendered during the Commission’s
Frzar imgs. Some appendicies however continue, and form

an important part of, the Part 1 narrative and have their

cwn sohedule of supporting documsnts, I have adopted this



Ciid

approach where tﬁe sub ject matter"&s a side issue which
only merits a passing mention in the main text (such as
liquor smuggling?) or where the full expansion of the

sub ject matter in the main text requived the introduction

of technical jargon (such as Transfer Fricing).

The following appendices are of this nature and
require careful study by those interested in reading
the continuation of the narrative which on these topics

has merely been introduced in Part 1.

1y

§E

Appendix 8 — "Manipulation &f Shareholdings and
Directorships in Angus’ PNG Subsidiaries”

The manipulations referred to were complex and require
a study of lawyers' instruction sheets and various company

documents. These are set out as a schedule to the Appendi x.

Appendix 35 — Angus PNG'S Transfer Pricing Schemes”

To adequately describe the way the Angus principals
set about constructing and implementing their schemes
for transfer pricing on various log shipments requirved
reference to the relevant letters of credit, inter-—company
correspondence and financial calculations. It is a story
in itself. After a general intvoduction in Fart 1, the full
detailed story of transfer pricing is told in Appendix 335

with key documents attached as a Schedule.
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Appendix 39 — "Allocation of Kupiano Permit TF3~4 to
Goodwood Pty Ltd — Some Key Dates”

Although this Interim REeport concerns inquiries into
Angus some disturbing evidence was given in the closing
stages of the Angus inguiry comrerninq the Allocation of a
Fermit to Goodwood over the kup]anﬁ perm:t area. 6s this
invalved two key figures in the Anqur investigatiaon,
Messres E F Diro and 0 Mamalai, ‘and-as it occurred contem-—
paranecusly, and also involved the uadalsu perm1t Aar ea,
it was given a brief mention in the text of Part 1.
Appendiv 29 elaborates that text by setting out key dates.
The supporting dndumentatﬁun 1s not appended as 1 hope to
make the Rlluaatlﬁn "o f the permit o Kupiano/Goodwood Fty

Litd the subject of & k@parate repnrt.-”

\u.

Appendix 50 — “Apparant Liguor Smuggling"

The way duty free liguor was smuggled into Fapua New
Guinea on the Angus log ships is tenuously connected to the
Commission’s Terms of Reference as an improper benefit whiach
has been obtained by those involved in the timber industry.
It receives a brief, passing mention in the text of Fart 1.
Ag there is evidence that this practice also exists in some
other operations 1T have included a full description of the
evidence uncovered in this Ingquivy and a Schedule of

supporting document s,
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Appendix 51 - - “TherJﬁguar Vehicle”

The complicated story and documentary evidence invol ved
in the importation and use of this Jaguar motor car has been
elaborated upon in this appendix so as to avoid cluttering

up the narrative in Fart 1.

T E BARNETT,
COMMISSEIONER.



(il

1-
3.
4.

6-
7.

‘3‘
10.
11.

Fo )

[V

CONTENTS
FPage.
Foreward Cid — Civd
PART 1
INTRODUCTION. s v 0o v v s G esamsernanvscuvssnsrarrnanenal

EARLY ATTEMPTS TO EXPLOIT GAbAISU FOREST.ervrevensed
THE BIRTH OF ANGUS. cvvavesrnsacnrarsssusssannsnnnssB
WORKING FOR ANGUS (SINGAPORE) s . svsesnnnnnns chereesD
MINISTERIAL APPOINTMENT - DIRO’S DILEMMA..........11
MANIFULATING MAGI WOPTEN. e venussnssoronnnnrcerensal3
THE ANGUS PROPOSAL . e vesuessssncnasasnnnasnnssssns 15
NEGOTIATING PERMIT tb&DITIDNQ;L;..................19
OWNERSHIP OF ANGUS (FNGE) PTY LTDeveeernennnnnens .20
FINANCE PROBLEMS. v cveucnvrnnannns S <2t
EARLY MARKETING CONSPIRACY — TRANSFER PRICING.....29
' REGULARISING? ANGUS. cevevrancnnnnes J -4
ON-GDING TRANSFER PRICE AGREEMENT. .. veevscaresenss2d
TRANSFER PRICING FROPOSAL FOR SECOND SHIFMENT.....34
Fo1.0. MANAGEMENT — FIGHT FOR SURVIVAL.....u......34

CUTTING LOOSE FROM SINGAFORE..... B 35
DIRG TURNS AGAINST ANGUS. .. cvernavwnos - 4
THE TORATO AFPRDACH. . . v v o ww o I PR 1 =
OFFICIAL MANAGEMENT. . ccnvonvwrnerns ek e ks 339
THE ROLE OF EDWARD FAMU DIFD. v e vrncouenn v vunas w0
FELEVANCE OF FINDINGS TO COMMISSION’S TERMS OF
FEFERENCE. s avrveosaneran I cenanan a0
FOSSIRLE CRIMINAL AND OTHER OFFENCES....c.-.n v sw
CONCLUSTON, « s v s s neae chsamwnmmn . e e s w e m o E s =3}



List of

Appendix
Appendix
Appendix
Appendix
Appendix

Appendix
Append ix
Appendix

Appendix

Appendix
Appendix
Append ix

Appendix
Appendix

Appendix

Append Ix
Append ix
sppendix
Append ix
appendix
Appendix

Appendix
Appendix
Append ix
Append ix
Appendix
Append ix
Sppendix
Appendix
Appendix
Appendix
Appendix
Append 1x

o W R

W

10
11
1z

13
14

W NOOUO ™SR WM

L3 Ly Gy Lo Ry R Ry Ry by Ry M RS

PART 2

endices

Letter Diro to Mamalai

Letter Gabina to Lucas Waka

Telex Constantinou to Mamalai

Letter Vanuawaru to Lucas Waka

Telex Bougainville Development
Corp. to G. Goldings

Memoc E Rates to Secretary DOF

Letter Diro to Waka

Manipulationa of Shareholdings
and Directorships in Angus’
Subsidiaries

J Kasaipwalova’s "Newsflash"
telex to Angus Singapore

Details of Dirvo Companies

Kagsaman instruction sheet

Telex Kazaipwalova to PNG
Ambassador Brussels

Telex Cheah to Angus Singapore

Letter Magi Wopten to Secretary

Dept. of Forests
Minutes of Meeting Central
Frovince Leaders
Letter Mamalai to Cheah
Mems Diro to Secretary D.OWF.
Letter Kasaipwalova to Mamalai
Memo to Secretary DLJOWGF.
Memos FAS Ops. to Mamalai

l.ettar Cheah and Hasapwalova to

Secretary Dept. of Forests

Memo Secretary to FAS Operations

Memc Kari to Secretary D.O.F.

Memo Secretary to Deputy Secretary
Memo McNeill to Secretavy D.OLF.

Mems Kari to Secretary
Mamalai to A/Deputy Becretary
Letter Kasaipwalova to Dirvo
Telex Mamalai to Angus (FNGED
Telex Dir: to Angus (PNG)

Memor andun Cheah to Chan Lang Wai

Letter Magi Wopten to Diro

Fax Kasaipwalova to Cheah setting
out Questions in Farliament by

Jack Genia, MP and Mr Divao's
ANBWERY S

Cvi)

20-12-84
25-07-84
20-09-84
14-02-85

240985
0g—-10-85
14-10-85

21-11-85

08-11-85
26—-11-85

O2-12-85

04-12-85
20~12~B5
09-01-86
20-12-85
24-12-85
02~01-86

13-01-86
14-01-86
17-01-86
27-01-86
30-01-86
040286
11-02-86
25-02-86
25-02-86
25-02-86
01-03-86
21-04-86
17-03-B6



Appandix

Appendix
Appendix
Appendix
Appendix
Appandix

Appendix
Appendix
Appendix

Appendix
Appendix
Appendix

Appendix
Appendix
appendix

Appendix
Appendix
Append ix

35
35
37
38
39

40
g1
42

43
44
45

46
47
48

49
50
51

(viid

Reports &n inspections of Anqus
Operations
Angus Transfer Fricing Schemes

Travel Lodge Memo to Charlie Koh 17-08~-86
Letter Cheah to Ang 21086
Memo Mamalai to Diro 23—-10-86

Allocation of Kupiano Permit to
Goodwood Pty Ltd — Some key Dates

Letter to Siv Tore Lokoloko 10--G2-87
Momo Secretary DOF to Minister 18-0Z-87
Secretary DOF to First Leq151at1ve
Counsel Q3-03-87
Advice to Governor Genefél O5-03-87
Letter 0. Mamalai to F.I.C. 13-03-87
Angus (FNG) Pty Ltd - Statement
of Affa1rs Feb. '87
List of. %nquw’ Creditors
Notice to Sheow Lause
Extracts from Mr Boodmam s final
sttbmissions on behalf of E R Dira
Minutes of Angus (PNGE) - Meeting 30-093-86

Apparant Liquor Smqullnq
The Jaguar Vehicle

~aoal)oao-



THE GADAISU TIMBER PERMIT — ANGUS (PNS) PTY LTD

1. INTRODUCTION

The Angus timber operation at Gadalsw in Central
Province was selected for the Commission’s first detailed
inguiry because it was a recently commenced operation close
to FPort Moresby and something had aobviously gone very
seriously wrong. Available evidenoce sugoested that the
FPermit had been issued to Angus in a way which contravened
forestry policy and the N.I.D.4. Act and that, during the
operaticon, the resouwrsce tad been severely damaged, There
were persistent rumours also of ministerial misconduct,
official corruption and transfer pricing on a large scale
associated with the aopevatiaon. After only nine months of
aperation, the company had gone into official management
owing Ei, GO0, 000 with aseets of wanly K193%,000,  Finally
all the company's records would he freely available to
the Commlaesion as Angus o FPNGEY Py Lbtd was under official
management and the Managsr, Mr Graham Parker, had oromised

full ocooperation.

At the commancemsnt of the inguivy T summonsed &1l

the busineses reoords ot onous PN Py Led and Commisslon
staff analvysed then most carefully. The documents stoudied
suppar el The comouy s s dndicated very seriows mrsoondoot
bes Py 8 B ODivo, She former Minister tor Forests whio at the
vesinmesrc smeert cof o Sk Tivodn e was Mindster for Foreiogn AFTairvs
anel leader oot the FPeor e Aol aorm Farbv. Thev also shoved
that the rormes Hovernor @eneral . Birv Tore Lokoloko, was

irwolved as Chalyman ot Anous, that My Gerard Eassoman,



former Fresident of, the FNG Law Socigty had jof ayved a
gignificant role, that Mr Oscar Mamalai, bthoan De rebary of
the Department of Forests, had guestions to answer and that

some notable foreigners would be implicated in the Inquirv.

For these reasons [ dirvected that the voles of those
key people be traced thvmughitha documentary evidence and
that they be then made aware of the nature of the evidence
concerning them and that they be given aﬁtnmpﬁrtunity to
come forward. Consequently, at'§HE uamm#nrpment of the

public hearinas, the following pév$un$ w@re either notified
’DY given a Lupy o f th@ Openlnq Address and invited to make

statements or tn be represewted hefnre the Commissions

E R Diro

Tan Sri Ghazali Shafei
M A Ang

J Kasaipwalova

F C Cheah

Sir Tore Lokoloko

Gerard Kassman

Only 8Bir Tore came forward voluntarily to assist the
Comimil 551 0n ., Tan Sri Ghazali Shafel s lawver sought relevant
transoriptes and Messrs Hasalpwalova and Cheah visited the
Commission and indicated statements woald be provided hutb
submitted nothing. Mr Diva came to be a2 major foocus of the
Inguiry becsuss he was the former Chalrman of Angus and was
Mimister for Forssts abt the meterisad times, He was the only
persor W souaht leaws o appesy hefore the Commission.

Leawver bo appear by Dourse] was or anted. Hen was firstly

eahes ame later hy Mo Macochaesl

represenbaed by My Fetay a0

Cimodhmarn, toa b 0t Steeles Lawvers.



2. EARLY ATTEMPYS TO EXPLOIT GADAISU FOREST

to exploit the forests of Bonua-Gadai su~Magarida in the
Amazon Bay Area of Central Province this Inquiry has

focussed on the attempts which were made from 1984 onwar os.

Attempt by Maqi Wopten and Magi Manda:

During 1984 there appears to have been a concerted push
to gain the rights to exploit the Gadaisu forest area.
There were two local contenders for the permiti:  a aroup
known as Magi Wopten, which was being advised by the Member
for Central, Mr E R Dire and a rival group known as Maai
Manda which was being ainsed by Mr John Kasaipwalova.
Mr Dirc was then supporting the concept of the Timber
Permit being issued to Magi Wopten Development Fty Ltd
(Appendix 1). Amazon Bay Sawmilling and Timber Pty Ltd was
already established (illegally) nearby at Magarida and it
negotiated an agreement with Maqi Wopten Development Pty Ltd
to act as its manager and logging contractor to log Gadailsu.
Amazon Bay Sawmilling and Timber Fty Ltd tsuppor ted by
ancther local member My Jack Genia, MP) then assisted Magi
Wopten to apply for a Timber Formit over the Badaisu area.
Although the timber rights purchases were not yet completed
the political pressure was such that Minister Lucas Waka
finally granted Fermit No.TP2-17 to Magi Wopten in April
1985. (See Appendices 2,3,4 demonstrating the political
pressure). 0On receiving the State Solicitors! advice that
the permit was invalid, it was cancelled on

16 May 1935,



Attempt by MOIC Investment Pte Ltd:
‘.2 =
The large Malaysian government supported, Malaysian
Overseas Investments Corporation (M.0O0.I.0.0 (KLY beoame
interested in projects in PNG in late 1984, One of the
projects suggested to it in February 1985 by the Deputy
Fremier of Central Fravince was the "abundance of timber

concessions especially aroundithe Amazon Ray"

At this time John Ea%alpwaluva was nla1m1na to bhe
MOIC's Cultural Consultant and he and‘MUIl’q Fort Moresby
manager, Foonag Chin Cheab commenced the task of preparing

the Magi Wopten: penple“jmv & partnpr5h1p with MOIC to

gxploit their fxmbpr YGEHUFIP. Fhw almvwas to restructure
the Board of Dlrantnrq uf thair ]uua] IAnduwn@rﬁ Company
to achieve a Board fav“uvably dlbﬁH%Pd towards MOIC,

On 14 June 1985 Mr Lheah;attended & m99t1nn of Magl Wopten
Directors and Mr George ﬂmn%tantiﬁuu o Amazon Bay
Sawmillirig and Timbers Fty Ltd at which it was agreed to
release povrtion of the area previously tied to Amazon Ray
Sawmilling and Timbers Py Lid for exploitation by MOIC.

A deed of release was later drawn up by My Gerard Eassman,
a lawyer then emploved by Gadens, and executed on the

21 June 1988, The way was thus cleared for MOIC to submit

A doint proposat o with Magih Wopten over the Gadal su avea.

Tt 1w werw relewvant that the thirvrd party mentioned in
the deed was MOIT Investments Fhte Lbtd, & Dingapors oodpany

whitod hog reeepbly been formed by M oA Ang, the Manaoging

Divecton oob OMT0 Ok Y, Phige Twin companties had no legal
compes s tear thoogt MOI0 Tnvestmoents Took advantane of marlet--
phercer e Foed o b b @ar )y tlaye o o dmply & naneexnisting

comreashion weth the presbiogrous MOTE CEL . Whern he formed
Ll Siovparoe o compateys Moa dnig was onn the coerage of bhrealking

away Feom FOIT CELY .



In July 1985, at a meeting in the Malaysian Hiagh
Commissioner’s residence, Mr Somare appointed My Diro as
joint head of a task force to help coordinate the MOLC (KL
projects in PNG — including the Bonua-Sadaisu timber
project. From then on Mr Diro took a very active interest

in promoting this MOIC/Magi Wopten timber operation.

At that time Mr Diro was the leader of the political
alliance known as the Papuan Independent Group and he was
formulating plans for his political party which eventually
was formed under the name Peoples A&tion FParty. Mr Kasai-
pwalova and the lawyer Kassman wergiyatef:to become active
participants in thag farty. 8

On the 1 August, MOIC IBQéstmeﬁfs Pie Ltd and Magi
Wopten Development Pty Ltd qubm1tted a Jjoint venture
proposal to the Department of Fareﬁts to exploit the Bonua-
Gadaisu—-Magarida timber area and tor estab11sh a follaow-up
agricultural project. The proposal itself had been prepared
in Singapore and was brought into PNG by Deidre Low, &
former employee of MOIC (KL) who had been recruited to work
for MOIC Investments in PNG. The proposal put forward the

concept of two joint venture companies.

Company A was to exploit the timber and was to be
predominantly foreign owned with gradually increasing
involvement by Magi Wopten over the years.

Company A. Ownership Years
{Timber)
MOIC / M.W.
BO%L s 20% 1 - 5
75% [/ 25% & — 9

70% /7 30U 10 onwards



Company B was to manage the Agricultural project and
was to be owned predominantly by Maqg: Wopten in the
following proportionss

Company B. = MOIC / M.W.
(Agriculture) 254 7 75%

but for the first ten yvears MOIC Investments would be
employed as Manager for a fee. ‘

Evidence aof Mr Diro’s involvement can bhe seen from the
fact that the MW/MOIC Joint Venture agreement dated 1/8/83

bears a signed notaticon:

"1 have read this agreement
(Sgd) E R Dira
E R DIRO, CBE, D STJ, MP
MP for Central® . k

3. THE _BIRTH OF ANGUS

While the proposal was being assessed in the Department
af Forests the Malaysian Overseas Investment Corporation was
failing in Malaysia and went into liquidation in September
1985. In that same month M A Ang, who had finally severed
his links with that corporation, registered Angus
Investments Pte Ltd and Angus Trading Pte Ltd as the apex
of the Angus Group of Companies, which claimed to have
subsidiaries in Hong Kong, MNigeria, Malaysia, Thailand,

Korea and England as well as in Fapua New Guinea.

In FPapua New Suinea, Messrs Diro, Kasaipwalava and
Kassman had joined forces with F O Cheah as active members
of the Angus Group to be controlled from Singapore.  Three

Gaden's shelf companies had previously been purchased, named



Boomi No.93, Boomi 94 and Boomi No.96. (On ke [= Laein bopspnb e
1985 these were rengmad respectively angus NG v 1hd,
Angus (Joint Venture) Fty Ltd and Marine Fesources Foty Ltd.

They were intended to be subsidiaries of Angus Singapore.
The evidence is quite clear that the initial

at the 19 September was:

Angus (PNG) Pty Ltd

Shareholders: »
John Kasaipwalova 1 s
Gevrard Kassman 1 Lwith, Trust Deed in
: favour of Tamworth 3% Fty Ltd
ADire's Company) and a Deed of
Indemnity from Tamworth 3% in
favour of Kassman as Director]

&

“w

Directors: ‘ B
John Fasaipwal ova '
Gerard Fassman o :

Angus (Joint Venture) Pty Ltd

Shareholders:
Jobn Easaipwal ova 1
Gerard Hassman 1 Cirvust Deed in favaour
of Tamwortls 289 Pty Ltdl
Pirestorss

Jokbin Fasaiowalova arnd Fer ard Fasoman

Marine Resources Pty Ltd

Fhargbolders:
e @y ol Faomsman 1 CTrust Deed in
favouyr af
Tamwon L 35 Flhy
btedd

Tamworth 3% Pty Lbd i

Divvo mmed Jodary Masma powal mova



Mat 1o

These were intended to be acaewtéd A
Companies to avaoid the necessity of abtaining appy aval
under the NIDA Act and to gain the more favourable treatment
afforded to National Companies in matters of resource
allocation and development. Subseguent manipulation of
share issues however show that there was always an intention
to have a secret majority foreign ownership situabion.

(See Appendix 82

Tihe potential importance of Mr Ted Dirote political
connectiong for the Gadaisu timber operation was highliaghted
when Easaipwal ova telexed Cheah in Singapore on the
24 September 1985 when Dentral Fremier Kone Vanuawarud won

a "Vote of No Confidence?.

"Eone Vanuawaru has won the vaote,
Ted in contryol of Central Frovinoial
Government . Abauw (Gabina) nominated
Mimister for Forestry."

From July to October, Diva's links with MOLDC
Investments/ Angus grew wider and desper. In Julv-August
Divo vreceived considerable financial assistance regarding

the purohases of a second hand Jaguasr motor vehicle.

M- Divofs svidence vegarding awnership of the vehicole was,

ancl vemalrns, very o Tusd mo. Liridfesy  cross e@xaminatior e

chanaed Mis ~be ey o Fr L o the facrtas being oresentoed o bim

s h d i . Interprating the evidence in the way

By Eowire
most tacourashle Lo Mr Do oo albhowah 1t 18 possifle that he

pad o the depoosa b Cthvooeh ome Hardy Leed, MO defirmtely

parc The Datlamnce oF apeg o cipatol ey RES,700 and E2,000 for

Fradl i the freioabht ohar .

reEoalY G sard pew hub caps as wel Ll as

Wiiat e ree Ll brapoenesd, 16 bs olear bthat MO Lard oul

acatt BT 0 000wl least oor Meo oot a hehald f CThe olg

i3 Lalsroee arnd pogpeeny Doy documenl s ave aelt out st dopendiy



Mr Diro was by now strongly ooami Ched G Mt
Investments/Angus by way of shareholdings and dinmumewhmp%
in ite PNE subsidiaries and by reason of ﬁubﬁtanﬁial
benefits received and other business connections. For
instance Mr Diro's company Tamworth No 35 rented its
apartment No. 206 Pacific View to Angus for K400 a month o and
Angus Investments was beginning to make various pavmert s on
his behalf (and see Hppendix 51 Fusl (Qil tender in joint
venture proposal with MQIC for BDRC. At this tipse My Diro®s

L 3F =4

company Tamworth No 385 was to be renamed INDEC PTY LIMITEDD .

Despite the appavant conflioct fnf 1ntwr@%t e mow
accepted also a wv1tten Cauthority o reppphent the Magi
Wopten peocple in e LY 1m0 Fmre%try'w aca@ptant@ af dts

joint venture proposal with MOIC InvwsfmontM.

This proposal was in fact being assessed very
unfavourably by the Department of Forests as heling vaoue,
lacking in details of financial aspects. contrarvy to
the 1979 Guidelines, lacking reafforestation o Tirm
agricultural follow-up proposals and unfair ten
fay (985D .

Magi Wopten. Cappendix & - #Hemo of 8 Ooto

Despite Mr Dirn's letter of the 14 Dotober aEE, which

stronoly supparted the proposal, cAppendix ) othe proposal

was rejected v Dotober 198NN

4.,  WORKING FOR_ANGUS (SINGAFORE)

Freoan flem o gmith b Wlek Cedeber Duver bravel bed o bo Mamoeadba

Uy L-aeas At wyvedney, at Tabaicts en

Cermg e reamse Sonss ON natooy e el andt, o peltnab by, b

procews e Lo o Bronn dnberast o Oy 4 tve | Meveesmbegs IR0

Sl e FRET Aceo, o subvsiadiar Lee b b i ebinge T e s Y



office at Gadens and the companies were reosleucbo: cn

bring in a degree of overt foreign ocwnersiiip. Theo
done in the cases of Angus (FNGE) Py Lt and Ancus CFoint
Venture) Pty Ltd by issuing one share to the Mal avsl an
citizen F C Cheah. To gqualify as a national COmpany  under
the N.I.D.A. Act it is necessary to maintain 75% svert
national ownership. To achieve this proportion an
additicnal share was issued to Diro’s Company Tamworth 395
bringing the total number of issued shares ih each company
up tao four. For Marine Resources Pty Ltd‘it{was decided to
bring in tws foreigners F C Cheah éﬁd a UfS%BVKLee gach of
whom were issued one share. To maintain 7Si national
ownership in this company ., it was necessary fm issue a total
of six shares to ﬁatidﬁhlé}:*THiS was done by issuing three
shares to John Hasaipwalova and ane newrghare was 1ssyed
dirvectly to Tamworth 35, My ﬁheah-Qasﬂhade manacaing
director and Mr Dira chairman of Divectors in all thres
companies.  The full history of this and subsequent changes
toe shargholdings and divectorships in these Angus companies

is set out in dppendix 8.

The instructions for these changes were aiven to lawyer
Fassman by Hasaipwalova. ALT the necessary documents were
pranarecd and forwarded by FHassman to Hassipwalova to be
kept n the various corporate reqisters. CA copy of the
dacuments prepared in relation to Angus (PNGD Pty Ltd is
attached aws Qppendiy .02, Before the Returns concerning
the 1 November 1283 gene sl meeting were filed at the

Lempanyts Office, Moweve: there was a change of government .



S. INISTERIAL APPOINTMENT — DIRO’S DI!EMMA

On 21 N&ovember 198%, Mr E F Dira was appointed to
the Ministry of the Wingti Coaliation government and
an 27 Novembier he was appointed Minister for Fovests,
to the obvicus delight of his associales at Angqus
(See Kasaipwalova's and Cheah’s telexes in Novembey -

appendices & & 132,

Mr Divo rnow faced a moment of choloe. He had becoms
Minister for Forests at & time when he was already heavily
involved, originally with MOIC Investments Pte Ltd, and now
with the foreign owned Angus Group of Companies. He Fadd
already received substantial benefits fram MOTC/Angus in
the form of assistance with the Jaguar motor vehicle,
payment of vehicle repair bills andydiﬁ@rs card esxpenses.
Only a few days before he had hecome Chailrman of the three
Angus subsidiary companies in PNG and, thyough his company
Tamwor bl 3%, he was legal and beneficial owner of shares
in thoss comparies. Angus was renting his Pacific View
Apartment (throuak Tamworth 3% and he was Popetful it would
vert his duplex in Moonbi Stveet Cowned by s Company
Tamate Voo Houseo Foy Lbdl, Fhee gppendix 10 Tor details
mb v of s Companles) ., He had alrveady made & trip to
Vamuaby at Talair wxpense but on Angus’ business and he

ard personal relationships

bad estobhlvebhed close business
Wikl Anaus meincinals; MOA Ang and Tan Sei Ghazalt Ghafel.
Tl ol Tame o b B8 Tt be renamed INDEC) he had tendey ed
foor s fuel ool suaply corbract with Bougainville Copper Ltd.

tments Fte

Th g wes bo be s jeant verntuwre wilkh MOIC Inves
Ltd bubt came to nothicng as thely tender was taoo high

Cppend foer S % F4 - Kasswan® s He weas

aler inwvalved with the propossd mubate as

alao indicabted in Appendix I1.



Other deals in the pipeline involviong My D1 oo and
MDIC/Angus included an agency arrangement for the Fumani &
firm manufacturing vehicles under the trade name "Roman'.
This praject was being pursued in conjunction with
Baugainville Development Corporation then under Leo Hannett

as Chairman (Appendix 123,

Mr Dirao knew that MOIC/Angus was committed in its
endeavour to exploit the BamuawMaqaridaFEadaiﬁu Limber
concession.  As Minister for Forests he was now bound,
under Section & of the Organic: Law on the Duties and
Responsibilities of Léadérs, te sever his links with
pngus and to disclose the whole situation to the Mational
Executive Uouncil and tp the Ombudsman Commission.

¥

"Section &. — Personal interest.

(12 A& person to whom this Law applies
whoo fails to reveal to the Ombudsman Dommission
and the appropriate authority the nature and
ewtent of his interest, or the interest ot an
associate, in a matter with which he has to deal
i his official capacity is guilty of misconduct
in office.

C2Y A person to whon this Law applies —

£l who, o an assoctate of whom, has
an interest in a matter which he
Mas bty deal with i an official
capasityy  and

1) wher coes deal with that matter
Cwhether by vebing on a guestion
concerning L ooy otherwlseld,

e, auldsct to Subseotion 37, guilty of migoon-
et an ot fFioe.

O bhe ohher hangd he also bnew that s Mindster for

Foreahe Mo wonld be in & posthtion to substantially assist

ariqus to soguirve the Hadaisw Timber Permit and Lo beoome &

vary profobable enterprises



Despite Mr Diro's cover-up and bhlocking tactics
throughout this long inguiry the evidenoe clearly shows,
and at the end he finally admitted, that he chose to retain,
and in fact to increase, his beneficial ownership in Angus,
to hide that fact by & series of trust arrangements, and to
make no disclosures to anyone. To clean up the public
record Mr Diro resigned as Chairman of the Angus (PNG)
subsidiaries but he continued to receive substantial
benefits. He alse begarn actively to use his position as

Minister to promote the interests of Angus (FNG) Pty Ltd.

6. MANIPULATING MAGI WOPTEN DEVELOPMENT PI1Y LTD.

The Angus Group immediately appreciated the importance
ton it of Dive's appointment ancd realised that it put the
group in a very favourable position, but that Dive would now
have to "maintain a very low profirle” in company affairs
(Appendix 13 Chealh notifies Angus HEN. Ingtructicns were
sent to all Angus offices in other countries to delete all
reference to Dive's name.,  From now on he is referred to
in Angus Group correspondenco and documents as "Andrew! -

a cadername Wwhich Mr Diveo wltimately admitted reforred to

him.

On the 2 Decembey 1985 the Charrman of Maol Wophen
Wwirabe Lo che Denarbment with o new sense of confidence and
in untvpireally covrvect languane, suooaesting periaps the
permeiesro g of Dalvr Easaipwal ove of Anoue C@ppendiy 742,

Uiy b 4 December , at o moeeting in Me Div s ofiice attended

cegtar v of the Depactment of Forests, Me Mamalai,

by the
Ll P eemime , eabeal Proevinee, Me Gensa, the national member

e Abauw electorabe, Two proccinoial meEmbers, T Fasailpwalova,



7 THE_ANGUS PROFDSAL

The proposal which was prepared by Angus was bhasiocally

the previously rejected MOIC proposal verbatim ezcept that
the company details of Angus (PNEY Pty Ltd. and the Anous
Group were substituted for those of MOIC Investments Fte
Ltd., Ancther difference was that in the Anagus proposal the
permit holder was to be Angus (FNE) Pty Ltd itself not a
joint venture company with Magi Wopten Development Pty Ltd.
The functicon of the joint ventuwre company seemed to have
heen forgotten. (angus (Joint Venture) Pty Ltd remained a
shel f company wuntil August 1986 when there was an attempt
te activate it for the purpose of transferving to it some

ESES0, 000 book debts owsd by Angus (PNGEY Fty -tdy.

While the Depariment was urgently tryinag to find out
eome details about Angus (PNGY Pty Ltd, and assessing the
propasal s, Mr Divo and ie wife Veitu Diro accepted an

invitation by Angus Singapore and flew to Singapore and

Malayvsia wibth the new Angus PFNE Chairman, Siv Trove Laokalako,

at Angus’ expense. CMres Diveo did not travel tao Malaysiad.

fm Pert Moresby the sentoy of flcers assaessina the &naus
PropoGal  Wer s unaninous in their recommendations that ot
muet e rejected. They podnted out bhat &nguu CPNGE) Pty Ltd
was not khaown and not peereaglstered with Forestev. Aot ey
b e tion o was that b had been planned that Gedad su ol o
be wliceated to Ulaho Timbes Company, a Forsst Development
Ceapror abl o owhioh o was rapidly ocunming out of vesoucoe ono an

adjscent concesaion Cdppandic 72, CRppaendis Z0Y,
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Three day's after his return from Singapore Mr Diro,
on the 9 January 1986, directed Secretary Mamalai to "take
immediate steps to issue the Timber Permit in due course"
CAppendix 17> and, in his evidence, Mr Mamalai swore that
he accepted that as the Minister’s final decision. Diro's

direction was issued four days before Angus’ proposals were

even received by the Department. (A4ppendix 212

When the proposal did arrive Mamalai made it clear to
his staff that a permit’ wauld be issued firstly over the
Gadaisu TRP area only, but that the Bonua-Magarida area
would be included when purchases were completed. (Appendix

22>,

The staff found the proposal quite unsatisfactory for
a number of reasohe and édain recommended that it be
rejected, (Appendix 23D but Mr Mama;a1 perslsted in his
intention to issue the permit (ﬁppendjw 24) {n the
30 January the Secretary rec91ved a detalled report from
senior officer McNeill setting ocut compelling reasons why
the proposal should be rejected, as it failed to comply with

the 1979 Policy Guidelines in many respects:

ta) Angus (PNG) Fty Ltd had no experience

oy expertise;

(by There were insufficient details of

financial status;

(c) There was vagueness about structure

and contracting arrangementss;

{dy» Angus was not registered with Depar tment

of Forest. Cappendix 252



Mr McNeill noted the fact that the proposal showed bthat
Anthony Diro was a 35% shareholder in Angus (FNE) Pty Ltd
- and that he Rad queried this on the 29 January by telephaone

with Kasaipwalova and Gadens, Lawyers.

On 4 February the Secretary received another report
fraom acting Deputy Secretary Kéri CAppendix 263 which
pointed out that the Angus proposal fell far below the
ideal. He said that the 1déaI wauI& anlude a large

sawmill, follow up landuse or reaffafestatznn and clearly

PREE

‘def1ned infrastructure requ1rements sbecafyznq an extension
| of the Magi Highway, with bridges and feeder roads to
villages. Mr Kari superted McNeill?’s criticisms and his
Minute provides a qood staéément of Forestry Paolicy as it
should have worked in &Elatimn tn tb1s application., He alsa
commented on the Minister’éﬁbqééibie conflict of interest
regarding Anthaony Dira’s sha}e;. Mr Kari also abjected

to the fact that the proposal was not for Gadaisu only

but alsc for Bonua—Magarida which he felt was forcing the
Department to wrongly allocate that additional resource.

Mr Mamalai's difficulty in reconciling the Minister’s
decision (that the permit be issued) with the department’s
correct, but contrary, view is obvicus from his Minute of
11 February 1986. CAppendix 272 which directed that a
FPermit in favour of Angus (FNG) Pty Ltd be prepared,
incorporating some of the additional matters suggested
by his staff. Mis attempt to justity his divection, put

at its hidhest, sesems Lo be puwe waffle.



8. PERMIT CONDITIONS

Having Hecided, on very dubicus grounds, that the
permit would be issued to Anqus, the Secretary now proceeded
to conduct the detailed negotiations with Anqus in a way
which was most unusual. Firstly he took the task upan
himself, bypassing the staff who would normally have
per formed the detailed work. Secondly he conceded almast
every point pressed by Angus and finally he allowed the
final permit document to be.typed up ocutside the Department
under Angus'’ supervision. The final version was then given
to the Minister by Kasaipwalova foEVSigﬁing before being
proof-read by the Secretary. The Minisfér signed without
the Secretary being present and eventually a copy of
the signed permit was delivered to the Department by
Mr Kasaipwalova. The original pgymit was found amongst

the Anqus files produced to the Commission on SUMMONS.

During the negotiations, while Minister Dirc was being
briefed and consulted by the Secretary, the Minister was

alsc din reqular, secret, contact with Mr FKasaipwalova.

Even at this early stage the financial difficulties of
Anagus (PNGY Fty Ltd were acute and, for this reason, its
principals were alveady trying to sell aoff Z0% of the equity
to fovejqners, in morder to raise working capital to get the
operation started. They were neqotiating with 5e§era1
parties, including a party in mainland China, and in ovder
to emphasise the financial attractiveness of the Angus
operation Angus successfully persuaded both Mamalai and
Minister Dirc to telex the intention of adding Bonua-

Magarida to the concession in the near future. Chppendix

RS R Ir Mie evidence Mamalai said that he tried to make his

é telew suund like & "less than full cammi#ment” VHppendix 29D

g But M- Dieqa mad o hewitation 1o making é fl L commitment
CAppend iy J05, Gy 1 March 1986 F © Cheabh rmmediately




brought the telexed decision to extend the Fermit to the
attention of Angus (Hong Kong) in order to help i1n the
negotiations: for Chinese capital. The Gadaisu area was
expected to be cut cut in five years but by claiming rights
over Bonua and Magarida Cheah was able to offer a thirteen
year operation to potential purchasers. This was the basis
for his calculations in the | March facsimile message in
which he proposed a price of USD3 million for the sale

of 20 percent of the equity in Angus (Appendix 31).

On 24 April 1986, in a letter most probably drafted and
typed by Angus, Magi Wopten referred again to the two vital
telexes in a letter to Minister Diro, requesting him tao
include their subject matter "in a clause of intent within
the Timber Permit No.3-22". (Appendix 32). On the back of
the Magi Wopten letter Mr Mamalai scribbled out a draft of
the clause which was later included in the permit in

accordance with this request.

The fact that both the Minister and the Secretary were
well aware of Angus’ financial plight, which was obliging
it to try and sell off equity to meet commencement expenses,
is yet another reason why the permit should never have been

granted to Angus (PNG) Fty Ltd.

The reasons for Mr Diro's determination to grant the
permit to Angus are easy to see. He was a 35%4 beneficial
owner of the company and, as will be shortly shown, he held
very high hopes of making a great deal of profit for himself
perscnally and possibly, as he later claimed, for his
political party. If it is true, as he now claims, that he
alsa had high bhopes of benefiting the Magi Wopten pecple,

1 can see no evidence of it. In fact the evidence suggests
he was party to the reckless destruction of their forests,
by virtue of the logging practices adopted, and party tao a
plan to systematically cheat them of their rightful profits,

by the marketing schemes adopted.

13
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It is not sgﬁﬁasy to decide upon thém@&tfvee o f
Secretary, Oscar Mamalai, who seems to have been unusually
compliant. As a professional forester and head of the
Department he was under a duty toheut the professicnal view

strongly to a new Minister. gAt%hﬁastaqe does he appear to

-3

have done this. . ‘ -

«
&
1
&
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The permit was eventually sianed by MY’DIYG on the

29 April 1986. S
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A aqreat deal of tHEuﬁummfsévﬁn?s time was spent 1n
backaround investigations ahﬁ pﬂBl1r hearings trvaing to
establish the beneficial ownership of the Angus companies
especially the permit holder Angus {PNGY Pty Ltd, which was
also the loaging and marketing company until this role was
eventually taken on by the Forest Industries Council and 1ts

appointed contractor Santa Investments Fty Ltd.

The fact that the criginal pruprsal showed on 1ts face
that Mr E F Dira’s brothor Anthony held 35% of the shares
rarsed the prssibility that this bloctk was actually held
1 trust fur & 0 Dive himself o for one of his companies.
The Department queried Arthony Dira’s holdinas because of

a possihle contlict of 1nterest for the Minister.

Mr Dirc’e sworn =vidence about the i1nclusion
Af Artheony Diro’s name 10 the proposal was that when he
fiv ot =maw 1 b hie was strprised and andary. e swore that
he divected b asaipwal wa and Mamalai to remove his broather’s

FTEUME: .
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Right up until the last few days of the public hearing
he maintained, on ocath, that he held no%&nt9rest legal or
beneficial in Andus (PNG) Pty Ltd. The ©ommissi1on summonsed
@Gaden’'s files and lawyer G Kassman's files to try and
uncover the true situation. When confronted with the

4
f

evidence from these files Mr Diro finally admitted that
35%% of Angus (PNG) Pty Ltd shares were indeed held by

TS

Kasaipwalova in trust for him. S w”

T - AR
4 o s

The result of the painstaking*7esearch'¥hrough those
files disclomed what had happ@ned Bd’tleaffyw%hat there
was really no room left for evaslphé,and denﬁgis.
The embarassing question by the ﬁdpartmnpt qused Kasaman
° to rewrite the Mxnutes of the 1 Novembn@g@ﬁ%%ing and the
associated compan% doog %ﬁﬁgmgo show Anfﬁony Diro'’s 35%
shareholding. Even ﬁbﬂa éﬁbﬁé&su&nquggstions vere asked
by Mr Jack Genia in P&?liaméht on«ﬁﬁ¥m§4 ‘March 1986,
including a question abohv Angus' ﬁ%;;eholders which
threatened public disclosure of the improper connection
between the Minister and Anthony Diro (8ppendix 33 which
includes Mr Diro’s answers). Mr Gema's questions caused
a flurry of activity as recorded in Kassman's file from -
Gadens. After unsuccessful attempts to contact Diro and
Kasaipwalpva on the 19 March, Kasaipwalova was contacted on
25 March and Kassman was instructed to hide Minmister Diro's
shares under deeper cover "Delete Diro Anthony 1n total".
The Minutes of the 1st November 1986 were re-written yet
again to delete all reference to Anthony Diro. This version
of the 1 November Minutes alsc recorded the appointment,
at that meeting, of Sir Tore Lokoloko a3 a director and
Chairman of the Board, though this clearly must have

happened at a later date.
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The Return of Allotment =f Shares and Fevt.irulars
of Directors, etc, which eventually found ite way it the
Registrar of Companies was this third and patently false
version prepared by Gerard Kassman on the instructicons of
J Kasaipwalava and forwarded to the Registrar on 25 March
1986. CAppendix 8 sets out the full story of the

manipulation of shareholding in Angus (FNGY ).

On the last day of the Commission’s public hearing
into Angus, through his Counsel, Mr Diro made the following
admission about his beneficial interests in Angus (PNG) Pty

Ltd.

"Secret retention by Mr Dirco of a block

of shares being 35% of the issued capital
aof Angus (PNG)Y Pty Ltd ... Mr.Divro concedes
that this allegation is substantially true
sub ject to the gqualification that the block
of shares was for the use of the party.®

I find as é matter of fact that at all material times
the percentaqe beneficial ownerahiip of Angus (PNG) Pty Ltd

was as tollowss

Ariqus Investment Fte Ltd (Singapore) S1%
divect 20%
Fazsaipwalova (& later Siv Tored

in trust 317

ER Dive fheld by EKasaipwalova

in trust) 25%
J Pasaipwal ava S%
Froo Theah fa Malavsian vitizen) 3%
tiront S%
dela by Fasalpwalova in trust A% -

100%
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The Return of Allotment of Shares and FParcuvrulars
“of Directors, etc, which eventually found its way Lo the
Whégistrar of Companies was this third and patently false
Qersion prépared by Gerard Kassman on the instructions of
J Kasaipwalova and forwarded to the Registrar on 25 March
1986. (Appendix 8 sets out the full story of the

manipulation of shareholding in Angus (FNG)).

On the last day of the Commission’s public hearing
into Angus, through his Counsel, Mr Diro made the following

admission about his beneficial interests in Angus (PNG) Pty
Ltd. |

"Secret retenticon by Mr Dirc of a block

of shares being 354 of the issued cépital
of Angus (PNG) Pty Ltd ... Mr.Diro concedes
that this allegation is substantially true
sub ject to the gualification that the block
of shares was for the use of the party."

I find as a matter of fact that at all material times
the percentadge beneficial ownership of Angus (FPNG) Pty Ltd

was as follows:

Angqus Investment FPte Ltd {(Singapore) S1%
divect 20%
Fasaipwalova (% later Sir Tore)

in trust 317

E R Diva fheld by Easaipwalava

in trust) 35%

J Hasaipwal ova 5%

F oo fMaeah ra Malaveian citizen) 3%
divrast f A

Aeld by Fasaipwalova in trust A% -
100%



¢

Thus, when the Gadaisu permit was issued, Angus w;s &0O%
foreign owned and should have been registered with N.I.D.A.
and 354 of the company was held at the direction and use of
the Minister for'ﬁorests through J Kasaipwalava.

10. FEINANCE PROBLEMS

The scheme to sell off twentyﬁbertent of the equity

came to nothing and Angus PNG was %&cibgua desperate
liquidity problem. It was having difficulty meeting

basic requirements such as the payment of wages, insurance
on equipment and the K76,000 guarantee required by the
Department of Forests as a condition of the permit.

Angus Singapore itself was nowfacing a financial crisis
also and, far from being able to lavishly finance the
initial expenses of the PNG operation, it Qas'already

beginning to look to Angus (PNGE) for financial assistance.

Angus'! first attempts at running a timber operation
were not successful. The Company Had no road construction
skills and it followed no forestry working plan. Early
reports by Forestry Inspectors show that the logging
techniques caused great wasteage and environmental damage.
This was made worse by the fact that they were threaterned
by fear of imminent financial collapse both in Singapore and
Papua New Guinea. To keep its creditofs happy Angus needed
large profits from log shipments quickly. To achieve this
its operators chased after pockets of the highly priced
rosewood wherever they were reasonably accessible and left
the less valuable species. As a consequence the timber
resource has been badly and unnecessarily damaged.
(appendix 342. To gain quick access to a site for the
lag pond the company bulldozed Sabiribo Village from its

peaceful situation on the beach and left the people to



rebuild a temporary "shanty" village perfhed o A bare

hillside. In the process the church was'destrmyed, Uraves
were desecrated and the pastor’s house was occupied by the
company as its headquarters. The company has not honoured
its promises to rebuild the village on & suitable site and

to provide it with electric power and reticulated water.

In order to survive, Angus desperately needed to start
receiving log payments. It was crucial that the loas could
be harvested‘quickly and that marketing could be arranqed
satisfactorily. While the expatriate Malaysian and
Fhilipino operators floundered in mud on poorly constructed
roads, the headquarters people from FPort Moresby and

Singapore planned the marketing.

11. Y MARKETING CONSPIRACY — TRANGFE ICI
(First Shipment)

1t is quite clear from the documentary evidence that
from the very early days of the Gadaisu timber operation
there was a conspiracy between M A Ang, Tan 8Sri Ghazali
Shafei, F o CTheah, J Fasaipwalova and, once he Jmined the
aroup a bit later, Charlie Foh. The conspivécy commenced
witt the very first contract and it involved transferring
USD10 of the true prive per cubilc meter, across the total

contrac ted shipment, to Angus Singapoare.

The spec:tic details of this and other transfer pricing
s nenes on subsequent contracts are set out an Appendix 35
which includes schadules of doruments related

to each schemes.



At the beginning of uperat1nns Anaus (FPNEY Pey Limtled
attempted to manage the logging, upEratiun and to do its own
marketing. There were several edntracts entered ints - all

with the Japanese firm Sankco Nagoya.

Angus’ inefficiency however resulted in there being
a shortfall in making up the first contracted shipment.
This caused a delay and in*fact‘fhe first shipment did
not finally load until Dctdﬁer 1986; apd it loaded under

PR Y

the terms of the second contract. -,

The simple basis of the scheme for transferring part
of the profits on this contract was for Angus (FNG)Y Pty Ltd
to receive in PNG a modest price based on the minimum export
price per species (MEF), as published regularly by the
Department of Forests. %he actual price paid however would
be far higher than that, but the difference between total
price and PNG price would be paid to an account in Hong
Fong., The potential for transferring such profits was
areatest for Rosewood be: ause there was a great difference
between MEP for Rosewcood and actual market price. Eosewood
thus formed the basis for illegally transferred profits from

the first shipment.

For this first shipment the scheme involved using
back to back letters of credit and back to back invoices.
The letter of credit and the invoice between Sanko and the
proposed middle company showed the true agreed price of
Fosewond at LEDI&T 289 per m3 whereas the letter of credit
hetween the proposed mididle company and Fapua New Guinea
showed UsSDI1Y7 wer o3, The difference to be taken offshore
cas USDED 74, 747, The letters nf credit were alveady in
place troam bthe tarvst, not yvet fulfilled, contract and merely

neaded adjustiog.
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A problem for Angus (PNG) Pty Ltd occurred when
Charlie Koh, the Angus Group Manager in Singapore, decided
to intercept~the advance money due to Angus (PNG) through
the Bank of South Pacific. The whole arrangement had been
set up by three way negotiations between Angus (Singapore),
Angus (PNG) and Sanko and this is manifestly obvious from
studying Angus files. (See.exa»ples in Appendix 325) Koh
arranged for the full USD300,000 advance, which Angus (PNG)
was awaiting in PNG, to be telex transferred to the account
of Angus Trading Pte Ltd at the Bank of Credit and Commerce
Hong Kong. He then creamed off USPZO0,000 and forwarded on
only US100,000 to Angus (PNG). This left the Bank of South
Paci fic over-exposed as it had already allowed Angus (PNG)
overdraft accommodation to K330,000. This "treachery" by
Angus Singapore brought- forth a heartfelt cry from F C Cheah
to Chairman M A Ang in whiﬁh%hé’accurately summarises the
financial straits of Angus fPﬁé). L(Rppendix 35.25).

To save the credibility of Angus (PNG) Pty Ltd with
the banks, and in fact to save the company itself, Tan Sri
Ghazali Shafei established a personal credit line of
UsSD150,000 with the BCC Hong Kong which then made the
necessary advances to Bank of South Pacific Port Moresby

to cover its advances to Angus (PNG).,

The result of all this was that the Transfer Pricing
scheme worked amd a tax free profit of USDS9744.644 was
taken in Hong Kong by Angus Trading Pte Ltd. This was
later set off against the debt ocwed by Angus (PNG) Pty Ltd

to Angus (Singapore).



While négotiati%ns were continuing to get the
first shipment away a substantial re-arrangement or as
Ang expressed it, a "reqularisation" of Angus (PNGE) was

being planned by M A Ang and Charlie Koh in Singapore.

They came to Port Moresby on the 15 Auqust 1986 and
while Koh proceeded on to inspect the operation at Mamai,
Ang remained in Moresby at the Travelodge. This was just
after Angus (Singapore) had intercepted the UsD300, 000
advance expected by Angus (PNG) Pty Ltd and feelings were
very high. Ang came to remove Kasaipwalova as Company
Secretary and to replace him with Gerard Kassman. He also
wished to transfer the 31% of shares which Kasaipwalova held
for Angus (Singapore) to Sir Tore Lakoloko td be held in

trust for Singapore.

Mr Ang held meetinags with Kasaipwalova, Sir Tore
Laokoloks and Mr Ted Divoe and, while at the Travelodge,
wrote a memo to Charlie tob setting out the substance of
the aareements and the instructions which were to be qiven
to Lerard Eassman. The full text of the memo was as

fzllowss

"17/8/786
Tharlie,

Andrew, myselt, John E & V.0, Cheah agreed
to appoint feverd Kassman as owe Company
Secretary. tHe is now a divector of Anqus
FMG)  and appoint TOUCH ROSS as cur Company
Audi tonr .

At present Angus PNE shares are: -
Anaus Investment Pte Ltd 2O

12
W F o Cheal YA
D) Jobe V. TEY



. ay,

<

Please instruct Berard Kassman to re-issue

share as followls—

1) 'Angus Inves
2) F C Cheah
3 John K.

4) John K. -
3] Sir Tore

s
Kindly study witH F.
day to day policy of

20%
5%
9%

tment Pte Ltd

(This to hold for Andrew,

John K. will let us have

the blank transfer form &
Share Certificate to

ﬁref A5 35% 35%

‘ ‘ 31%
(Thﬂ wislto‘hold for Angus
Investment Pte Ltd & Sir Tore
will let us have the blank
Share.Certificate to reflect
31%) "~ Charlie, we need also
both John K. & Sir Tore to
effect the truast deed of these
shares of 35%Z & 31% respect-
ively.

C. Cheah % John K. on the
Angus PNG to conform with

local law and to keep in line with Angus Group

policy.
SIGNED BY:

M A ANG

F C CHEAH

JOHN K. "

This memo is clear evidence of the beneficial

ownership of Angus PNG Pty Ltd and specifically highlights

Mr Diro’s 35% held by Kasaipwalova for him in the Code name

"Andrew".
Ang, Cheah and Kasaipwalova an

(See photocopy at Appendix 36).

The document is clearly genuine,

is signed by
d was in fact acted upon.

Mr Dirco admitted in

evidence that he did meet Mr Ang at the Travelodge on the
morning of the 17th but denied that they discussed the
sub ject matter of that memo except for some discussion

about replacing Kasaipwalava with Kassman as Secretary

and appointing Touche Ross as

auditor. On the other hand

Sir Tore Lokoloko swore that Ang gave him the original of

the memo and that he discussed it with Diro the same day
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later denied that con
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It estimates that the coffshore profits Lo be
transferred tc Valouse will be USDZ40,000 per munth when
Angus’ production rate is increased from 6,000 m3 to
15,000 m3 per month.

The memo continues -

“Management and Profit Sharing

6. Running of this company will be done by
two naminee directors from Arthur Young
acting on a standing instruction from the
beneficiary shareholders that all funds
received by Valouse Ltd will be paid out
to five separate accounts as follows:

A ANDREW’S Account - 35%

B T/8's Account - 25.5%

c MAA' s Account - 25.5%

D F.C.'s Account - 9%

E J.K?'s Account - S%4
7. For payment under paragraph 6, it is

sugaested that each shareholder establish
separate nominee companies on personal
accounts to receive your funds on yvour
behal t.

Re: Projected Profits for Angus (PNG)

1. he production plan for Angus PNG s
that wef December, production will
be increased from 6,000 m3/mth to
9,000 m3/mth with & further i1ncrease
of 6,000 m3/mth wef January throuagh
asub-cont actor s, Flease see cashflow
prepared by AG PNGE at fonpex. B

2 Dased on this figure, profits for Angus
FNG is projected to be US$E19.2399m for

o the duration of the permit.
(See Hnnex. CJ



3. The above profit is based on -otit
of USE39/m3 wef January 1947, w~with
Uss16/m3 of this USE39/m3 retained
in HKG and balance US$23/m3 retained
in PNG. Of this US%23/m3 retained
in PNG, actual prafit to AG PNG is
US$17.28/m3 (7%% equity in JV Cod,
before tax

4, For projected timing and value of
prafit disbursements to shareholders,
after tax) please see Annex. BD."

-

On the evidence I am satisfied bevond all reascnable
doubt that Tan Sri diacussed this memc with Cheah and

Kasaipwalava. A trusted Angus employee, who gave

“in camera” evidence aof having helped prepare materials
annexed to the dncumnnﬁ, swore that Cheah showed the
document to that witness in Port Moresby at the time of

Tan Sri’s vigit in Octeber,

Throughout the hearing Mr Diro catagaricaliy denied
all knowledge of Exhibit 108, its contents and the scheme
itself. On the 2 November 1987, however, in cross
examination and after being feaced with compelling
circumstantial evidence, Diro finally conceded that he
did have discussions with Tan Sri at that time and that
they may have included ageneral discussions about the

py oposed aoheme.

Mr Divols mwn tinancial situation at that period was
guite desperate. Evidence from his bank files and income
e returns ahmwg he was tarcing banlruptoy from having
vecklesaly "milked" hie private companies for political
DU DCISE S, His financial situation was ih@rtcaiely inval ved

with that of Anaus (PN as 1ts inability to pay the rent on
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his Pacific View Apartment Was a major cause of Mr iyt
own liquidity problems. From his own evidence

LI . oae
CIER WAL, S

stretched in ‘September/Octeber that he was faorced to obtain

K2000 from Anqus to pay his wife's'canfinement expenses,

During the hearing 1 reached the conclusion that
Mr Diro was not a witness of credit and that in order to
put forward apparently innocent explanations he was prepared
to lie on ocath to whatever extent he thought he could get
away with. On this question I am cenvinced that Tan Sri
discussed thig very document with Diro In fagt it is quite
likely that it was prepared in such HAWSUAlly explicit terms
precisely in order te put it to Diro and gain h1s approval .
0f those intended to profit from the scheme, all except Diro
already were tully aware of the details. Dirc was to be the
ma jor beneficiary, sharing in the same proportion as that of
his admitted cwnership in Anqus.

As a matter of fact therefore I find that Mr E R Direa
as well as Tan Sri Gharali Shatei, C Kah, F Cheah and

J Kasaipwalova all had full knowledae of, and participated

~-in the planning of, this scheme.

It was not merply a theoretical idea. 0On the evidence
before me it appears to have beern a detailed conspiracy to
cheat and defraud the State of income tax and customs duties
and to cheat Magi Wopten Devel opmernt Fty Ltd of ite share of
the true profits. Clear steps were taken to put this scheme
intu eftect,  The contvact petween Sanko and Anque  (FNIE)

Fhe b for eg e ehipments each of G000 m3 was con: luded.,

The company Yal oues |t wag purchased and the dirvectors

ﬁupU1nted WwETE Farinadon Jompansy Lt and Silvercresk Ltd
Lottty oot Hong Bong. An asusor jate of My Dive, Mary Jean e e,

siagned deeds of indemnitv, as Lrextiea frmy Al LWRer, to those
noaminee sharenldere and Lotk documents were witnessed b

JoRasaicesal v,

™



1 have recommended that this matter De ve e e e b Une
i
Commissioner of Police to consider whether all or any of

those involved should be charqed with a criminal affence.

14. TRANSFER PRICING PROPOSAL FOR SECOND SHIPMENT

While that ambitious continuing scheme was being set
in place,‘negotiations continued between Angus (PNG),
Angus (Singapore) and Sanko to combine the unfulfilled
first contract and a third contract to make up the secand
shipment. The way ghe scheme was set in place, adjusted
and confirmed is fully set out in Appendix 35 under the
Headings “A. FIRST CONTRACT" and C. THIRD CONTRACT".

At the final stages of negotiations the contemplated price

transfer was)to he USD$HL, 536.00,

15. F.I.C. MANAGEMENT — FIGHT FOR SURVIVAL

On the 23 November 1986 however the Angus Eroup in
Singapore went into liguidation and the liguidator beaan
to inquire about the debts owed ta it by Angus C(FPNG)

Pty Ltd. The FNG company was also in very bad shape

and clearly unable to pay its creditors. (See Cheah’s
letter to Ang 'of 28 Octobke) 1988 sappendix B7D). It was
actually facing cancellation ot 1ts permit. This was
reconnended by Se-retary Mamalsi on =3 Oetober (Appendis 282
but Minister Dive r@ijerted the advice and instead he
approved & rasooe operation which involved tihe Forest
(hchielv . 2s Lol L managing ANgusE. e 1t took uver

ek ratiors to Lhos e aaitd skl ooent ftrrat Zthird conty act)
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the F.1.C. dropped the transfer price scheme and
renegotiated prices in a way which ensured that the full
lagitimate price was to be payable in PNG for Angus (PNB)'s
benefit (See Appendix 35 p 8). The gross price for that
sscond shipment received by Angus (PN@) Pty Ltd was
USD487,023.03 from which FIC deducted 3.5% Commission
amounting to USD12,523.21.

Angus however was still unable to pay royalties or
to furnish. the K76,000 bank guarantee required by the
Department. Mr Diro finally approved the issue of a
'*Show Cause Notice’ allowing one month to show cause why
the permit shou}d not be cancelled. This was served on
the 5 November f§86.

16. CUTYING LOOSE FROM SINGAPORE

The principals of Angus (PNG) must have been growing
desperate at this stage. They knew of the immense illegal
profits which could flow from the transfer price agreement
with Sanko if they could only hold on and somehow find
the funds to trade out of their financial difficulties.

During November 1986, with the F.I.C. managing Angus
PNG and its Singapore parent company being then in
liquidation, a scheme to raise equity capital was hatched
which would dilute Singapore’'s controlling interest away
to almost nothing. It seems that the PNG directors first
turned upon Singapore’s man F C Cheah and demanded his

resignation.



A General Meeting on the 19 November, ferm o Cooarh
was absent, then approved an increase in autheg 5 Sed cap bal
from K10,000. to K400,000, On 4 December 83,900 shares were
allotted to Chairman Sir Tore Lokolokoe and 127,600 one kina
shares were allotted to John Hasaipwalova. Kasaipwalova
raised and actually paid cash K225,000 for these shares but
K7,500 was applied by G Kassman against the initial issue of

7,500 shares nct yet paid for.

The legal advice for the share issue was prmvided by
Anqus’ lawyer G Kassman but his invaolvement did not stop
there. As a Director of the Company, and as Company
Secretary, Kassman must alsc accept personal responsibility

for what happened.

In the witness box Mr Kassman eventually admitted that
proper notice of the meeting to increase authorised capital,
and of the massive share issue, was not given to Anqgus
(Singapore?. . He must have known Angus Investments Fte Ltd
was then in liquidation and that fact may well have given
him confidence that the fraud about to be attempted would
either go unnoticed or would not be pursued by the Singapore

liquidatar.

The ettect of the Lecember share issue was to reduce
the 51Y% contralling inte est previously held by Angus

8 ngapore) down bo WL EE reevawent .,

BEver 11 the share 1«sue was not valid, because of the
lack of propery notice, i1 wadd appear that at least an
attempt Lo woummy oo seerons coiminal nffwﬁaw wae made and
and 7 ke caeomnendod that Lkl satter also be referred
te the Tommiosioner of Folioe Uo conmslder whethoer oriminal

charages shoeald e Tail-
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17. DIRO TURNS AGAINST ANGUS

By the 5 December deadline no reply to the 'Notice to
Show Cause’ had been received. Unknown to himself Mr Divao
had only four more days to serve as Minister for Forests
before the sudden reshuffle of portfolios which ococurred
on the 9/10 December. In his own evidence Mr Diro conceded
that he thought Angus "was a qgonner” and that he had lost
integest in the Company. He was in fact working with the
very compliant Oscar Mamalai to cancel Angus’ perhit and to
issue a new permit, in record time, to a company previously
unknown in FPapua Mew Guinea, Goodwood Pty Ltd which wished
to operate both the Gadaisu (including Bonua-Magarida) and
Kupianc permit areas. The speed with which this was being
arranged was absolutely astoundinag and highly suspicious.
Time permitting it should be the subject of a further
separate investigation. (Appendix 390

On the 10 December Mr Dive did in fact sian an Advice
to the Governor General to cancel Angus’ permit over
Gadaisu. He alsc signed an Advice to Cancel the A.N.G.
Permit 3-4 over Kupiana on the 11 December and on that same
day signed a document crantina that Fermit to Goodwood Pty
LTd. M bwe Instruments of Advice to Cancel were dated
the 10 ard 11 December rvespectively but for technical
reasons they wers returned by the Dovernor General, through

the Fivst Legislative Uounsel, unsianad. (Bae Appendax 20D




18. THE TORATO APPROACH

After hig appointment as Miriister fur Foraocts un/thm
s vkl Desember Be Torato, aiter receiving a Tull briering
fymm My Mamalal, apparantly vaseillated about the
cancellation of Angus’ Fermuit. Then, on the 1D Fabhroadr
1987Khe cpemed to make up his mind and ANOUES Was al lowed
te o montinue, with ate operablons beirg conducted v the
F.l.0.'6 newly appointed contractior Santa Irive o b Py

Limited.  CAppendix 40

This decision took the Department by surprise. Former
Minister Diro had previously advised the Governoy General
to cancel the permit and had, without waiting for the
Governor General to act on the Advice, then issued a Letter
of Intent to allow Goodwood Fty Ltd to develop the resource.
Consequently Mr Mamalai again recommended cancellation of
the Angus Fermit on 18 February (Appendix 2123, In March
Mr Torato again turned against Anaus and directed the
necessary instruments to be drawn up to cancel the permit.
This was put in motion (Appendix 440 and the Advice to the
Governor General and the instrument itself were actually
drawn up (Appendix 430 Then on 13 March 1987 Mr Torato
jumped the other way and instructed\the Secretary to allow
Angus to continue. CAppendix 442 Anqus was by that time

under afficial management and Santa Investments was still

the logging contractor.

The circumstances of Minister Torato’s changes of
mind are now being investigated in the light of certain
documentary evidence which was discovered after a police

raid on the offices of Santa Investments Pty Ltd.

36



19. QFFICIAL MANAGEMENT

Towards the end of February the inevitable could be
postponed no longer and a Meetina of Angus’ creditars
resolved to place Angus (PNG) Pty Ltd under oftficial
management. Mr Parker took over as official manager on
2$W%ebruary 1987. At that stage Anqus had assets aof only
KIQB,OOO against debts of K1.6 million. (Appendix 45 -
Sééﬁewent of Affairs). The equipment was owned by Credit
Corporation the main creditor. Sixty national employees
were found abandoned at Sabiribo village without wages or
faﬁd (Parker arranged urgent food parcels and KE0 for each
family and then repatriated them all). The Philipino staff
who had long been unpaid, had all left sometime before.

No royalties had been paid under Angus’ management and
there was some k27,000 cutstanding. Likewise the premium

due to Magi Wopten of K& per m3 had not been paid.

On the other hand the very hiagh salaries of F C Cheah
and J. Kasaipwalova (ES0,000 p.a.) plus very aenerous
expense accounts and benefits were beina paid. Parker
immediately terminated theiv emplovment and paid out their
entitlements. tA list ot Angus’ creditores prepared by the

Official Manager is set out at Appendix 4o).

" Santats logaino operation was almost at a standstill
because mmaet of the eauipment had been stood down by Credit
Corporation and becauvse of the poorly constructed roads,
which were unusable after even light rain. In April for
instance total production was 798 m2 and in July it was

270 m3, well below the targeted GOCO md per month.

The resource itselt was badly damagerd, with blocked and

polluted shroeame, and 8 substantial amont of wasted tioher

Jwtt, heoth otarding end tel Leod.



A recent survey shows there is rnly about 18 months of
logging left to be done at a rate of 6000 m3 per month - far

less than was expected.

Under the official manager Angus began to trade out of
its difficulties and paid rovalties and the Premiums due to
Maisi Trust, a Group which has split off from Magi Wopten.
It then faced another 'Show Cause Notice!, however, served
on the 8 September 1987. This is attached as #fppendix 47
and it should be noted that most of the alleged permit
breaches occcurred when Anqus was still under its former
managneit. ANQUS? Fermit was finally cancelled on

21 January 1987.

20. THE ROLE OF EDWAFRD RAMU DIRO

It was inevitable that the Commission would foocus
o the activities of Minister for Forests, T E Diro.
This is because, fivrstly, he was Minister for Moooais
responsible ftor allocating and attempting to cancel Angus’
timher permit and, being Muonistery . the Commissron?’s Terms
IR MR e raco e ) that he be investigated with regard

sitile henefite revelvetd, Hecorndly the 1ngulry was

into Angus and, on Bis own belated admissions he held a
suba! bl et o bhe e table oweersnalp oot Angus’ (NG
sithelrdiaries ol was, wbkil Miae appolntmont s Minister,
the Chairman of thows compani es, Thirdly Anaqus’ finanuoial

renords i ol oased many rniotoanmes wheve e, bl v fe o one

rved Penefits froam ARGUs. Fimallwv,

~af Fiwe ooanpany e s@

theough his comparien or hile wite's compans Me Divoe was



involved in various business dealinas Wwi bk Angus:  tTheone
included rental arrangements, tendering for contracts, bthe
attempt to purchase Mamai Estates and a proposed agency deal

with a Rumanian firm.

After the Commission completed its preliminaﬁy
investigations, which included studying all the Angus
business records which had been produced on summons, it
was obvious that Mr Diro could play a key role in the
Inquiry. At face value those preliminary investigations
suggested that he may have been deeply and improperly
invalved with Angus during his term as Minister for Forestsg
that he may indeed have been the person code named "Andrew"
under which name Anqus kept a "pasearch and Develapment”

account which recorded many payments.

On the & August 13987 he was summonsed to produce all
relevant documents in his possession but said that he had
FICH e For his opening address on the Angus Inguiry, qiven
on & Aucust 1987, Mr Heeve prepared a very detailed
document. On that day Mr Diro was served with a copy of
the Commission’s Terms of Reference and a transcript setting
cut all allegations which were to be made during the Inguiry
about Argus and his}invwlvement in Angus. Each aqgift and
benefit allegedly recelived was speci fied including bliee fou b

hat he was the person codenamed "andrew" in the Anaus
accounts records. The openiing address'aCCUﬁed My Divio of
Leing at all times the owner =f 35 of the shares of Angus
CRNIET ey Ltd and of usaing his poeition as Minister to
Pmproperly grant ot e Hadalst btimber perm . The tourth
ma 1oy al teget.on Levelied at bim ir the opening adlress WAas
L hal M@ Wew a party hoo Anogue’ meveres to make 1l leaqal
wtrwbere profit-, by transier e a AN L Mothing was held

harks the evidenoe supp oehing brpam Al eaatlong WAas ot bod meed
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80 he could consider his position. A e wasr o SEenior
Minister in the agovernment it was hoped that th e ATty
approach might lead him to come forward to of fer

explanations or make admissiors.

Mr Diroc however applied for and was aranted
representation before the Commission. He then briefed
counsel, at public expense, and bhegan & long fight to

cover up his involvement.

Initially he adopted an agqressively defensive posture,
denying all allegaticns. Counsel assisting the Commissicon
war. then obliged to search out every voucher, airline
ticket, accounting record, telex, facsimile, and restaurant
bill to put together a conclusive case based largely on
circumstantial evidence. This was done meticulously by
working day and night but it added some two months to the
length of the proceedinas. 0Only when confronted with an
aoverwhelming valume of documentary evidence did Mr Direa
beain to make  oncessions and he did so grudaingly, fact by
fact, admitting only as much as he was abliged to at any cne
time. In the process he told a mixture of reluctant truths,

halt truths and untruths.

Only when applications were made that he be charged
with six separate acts of perjury did Mr Dire beain to make
substantial concessiorns. Tﬁen in the last few days, during
crass examination, while making revised statements and
tinally by concessions made by Mis counsel in final address
Mr Divo admitted vivtually every fact which had been alleaed
against him cduwing the opsning address and every additional
sianificant marter which had Yeen ra.sed duiring the

NEAY LM . Cwm wmedgots Coan M Hoodman's Final sSubmisions

Hppendie 85, Wath vedgard Lo Wie Liowl edae of and
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invalvement in Anaus? 1 v T priging schemas bhoweves
Mr Dirco made only a partial admission in thet, through

My Gosdman, he admitbed:

Mhe was in possession of sufrticient fooks o

establish that bthere was a «um of money wias o™

was to be created by vivtue of tramster prioir )

of fehore and which was also wder his control

as leader ot the Farliamentary Wing with control
cver the expenditure of fonds. he evidence 1
that Mr Diro did not consent to the trancster
pricing activities and his fault was to fail to
further investigate matters which came to his
notice in relation to trans“er pricinag and he

accepts that to that extent he is at fault'.

During this Inguiry it has been my duty pursuant to
Terms of Reference 8, to consider whether Mr Diro received
any direct or indirect benefits during his period as
Minister for Fo}ests and, if so, whether it was improper.
After ca: =ful imn5id9fatimn I have reached the folléwing

conclusions -

e
| 2 | ' .
Actual Benefits Received: o ) )
e

Mr Diro received very substantial'bengfits from or
v rlated to the Angus Group of Companieg,;iﬁcluding MOIC

Singapore? both before and after his ébpointment as Minister



C o Forests.

his wife or his companies included, but were naot Soamit et

the o 1w s

YA

sl

(d)

use of & Jaguar XJE Saluoomy, whioh

Mr Diveo conceded was owned ab the
time of its importation ints Papua
New Guinea in October 1985 by MOIC
Investmernts Fte Limited, and payment
By angus of costs and exspenses
associated with such vehiule
ammunting e at least H10,000.

Cree fpperdis B

payments by MOID (nvestments Fte Ltd
and Angus Tradinag Pte Ltd charged on
intercompany loan accounts to Anous
CPNEY) Pey Limited ofzi-—

i. airfares for Mr Dirc & Mrs Veitu
Dive from Fort Moresby to Singapore
and return in December 13985 amount-—
ing to S%8,622.20 (k3,919.16).

ii. airfares for Mr Diro from Singapore
to Kuala Lumpur and return in
January 1986 amcunting to S$365. 00
(k165.31)

iii. accommodation expenses for Mr Diro
% Mrs Veitu Dirco in December 13985/
January 1986 amcunting to USD1,3500
(k1,418,180

payment by Angus Trading Pte Limited
charged on intercompany loan accounts
to Angus (FNE) Pty Limited of airfares
for My Diro from Port Moresby to
Vanuatu (via Australia) and return

in February 1986 amounting to 5$3,439
k1,563, 18)

payment in October 1983 by Anqus (PNG>
Pty Limited of K1,600 rent for Unit
206 Pacific View Apartments for the
month of October 19895,

payment in June 1986 by Angus (PNG) Pty

Limited of K4,800 rent in respect of the

said Unit 306 for the months of November
and December 198% and January 1986.

These bhenefits which wero rroc vzl by bamselt,

Loy

3t



f)

g)

Ch)

(i)

€32

(k)

€1

tm)

(r)

£

(o

(SR ]

payment in September 1385 by Angues £RNEE )
Pty Limited of K4,000 in respect of an
unauthorised transfer of interest to
Angus (PNG) Pty Ltd of Tayota Forolla
AEQ 374 which was then under lease from
AGC (Pacific) Limited to Tamworth No.35
Pty Limited which payment was made to
Meridien Motors Pty Limited as part
payment of deposit on Mercedes Sedan

AEL _810.

payment by Angus (PNGE) Pty Limited in
September 1985 of Diners Club charges of
K300.00

payment in December 1985 by Angus (PNG)
Pty Ltd of Directors fees of K300, 00

payment by Angus (PNEY Pty Lid of
service charges in connection with
in October 19835, anJWin December
1985 of Kl66.84

payment by Anqus (FPNG) Fty Limited of
air fares for Mrs Veitu Diro in May 1986

and July 1986 from Port Moresby to Svdney

and return amounting in each case to
KE32. 00
payment by Angus (FNGE) Pty Ltd of

Talair flights for Diro’s associates.

payment by Angus (PNG) Pty Ltd of
Golden Bowl Restaurant bills.

payment by Anqus (PNG) Pty Ltd of
Veitu Diro’s confinement expenses.

payment by éngus (FNGE) Fty Ltd of
Fart Moresby-Brisbane return fares
tor Daro and Mr Keith Anderson.

pavments by Angus (FRE) Py Ltd of
Henrokeo Mobors billes aon My Divo's
Mresan Patrol vehiole.

payment by FHars Fam Fun) £Aal, S0O0-00,

pavmernt by Talaly ot air fares en route
te Vanuatu and retuwrn.

R3]



gential its:

Through his company Tamwarth 35 then throuah his
brother Anthony Diro and finally throuah John Kasaipwalova
Mr Dire was at all material times the beneficial uwwne: of
. 35% of the issued share capital of Angus FNG Pty Ltd.

With this holding he stood to benefit directly from the
company'’s onsharé and offshore prafits. His estimated
share of the aoffshore profits from the proposed continuing
transfer price scheme was to be USD3,292,800. and his
share of the profits taken in Fapua New Guinea was to be

uUSD1,774, 700,

‘I.am fully satisfied that he had knowledge of the

details of this scheme and approved it.

Mr Dirc?’s claim that the block of 384 of the wshase. was
to be held in trust for the Peoples Action Party I treat
with some scepticism. On this matter he first denied
knowledae of the shares, then said they were to be held in
true! for the people of Central Frovince and only when those
Yoo on! Tme were proved to be untenable did he offer up the
F.AF. as the true beneficial owner. It appears also that
vz 1i-ad b Parliament on this issue. (Bee his answer> Lo
Jacki fenia’s question - Appendix 2RI, I do not find it

coee ary to make a firm decision on this issue because,
evern if his claim is true, it would still be a benetfit

se. el dindivectly by him, [f money was recelvrd v ba
be received for the political party of which Mr Diro was
v be the Parliamentary leader [ consider that would be a
divect or indirect benefit to Mr Divo within the meaning
B R it REeferenre W At the time of the scheaar Lne
Farty had nﬁt vet been ftoormed and My Diro admitted that

e intenoneld to havie o combredl aver thoese funds,



Whatever the propriety of receiving benefits befors
being appointed as Minister there is no doubt that ali
banefits received after that appointment were highly
impfoper. As scon as he was appointed Minister fer Forests
Mr Diro had a duty under the Leadership Code to sever all
links with Angus/MOIC and to disclose hig interests and all
benefits received to the National Executive Ceuncil and to
therbmbudsman Commission. In view cf the tact that he had
Just resigned as Chairman of Anqus I consider he should also
have\made special arranqeménts with the Frime Minister
which would have allowed him to openly stand back from
all decisions relating to Angus. Instead of that he not
only retained his Angus interests but took active steps
to cover them up behind a series of trust arrangements.

Then, as has been shown, he continued to receive
substantial benefits and, worse still, he used his paosition

as Minisbt.r to grant very substantial favours to Anqus.

Favours to_ Angus:

The very allocation of the Permit in the unchecked
"fast run” way in which 1t was done was a completely
1mproper favouwr given to Angus. Had it net beern | or
Mr Divo’s ewpress directions there is no way Angus would
have receive! that Fermit it established forestry policy

nad been fol iowed.

Ancther favour agranted to the financially ailing Ar jus

was Lol Y e it b oocupy his company’s apartment even after

rent was at least eleven months and F17,600.00 in arrears,
Ao e oo e this debt owed to Tamworth 3% unde - thie

improper lease agreement when attempting to put forward some
Justification tor reoeiving one 2, D00 pavment personal ly

fram Angus) ., .



Finally, when it was clear to the senicr officers in
the Department of Forests that the Angus permit should be
cancelled before irrepairable harm was done to the resource:

and its owners, still Diro refused advice ta revoke it.

When he was painfully aware of Anqus? financial
difficulties, and that it had commenced an apparantly
irreversible descent into debt, he actually chaired a
meeting on the 30 September 1986 in Anqus' offices where
he tried to obtain assistance for Angus from a Mr Pars Ram
Punj reqgarding the Vanimco Timber extension area. (Mr Pars
Ram Punj is a businessman from Brisbane who three weeks
earlier had delivered a $A1,500 "gift package"” to Mr Diroc in
Brisbane at the tclexed request of Mr Cowan of the Forest
Industries Council. At the time Mr Diro was traQelling
on air tickets purchased for him by Angus. In evidence
he claimed that he later repaid the money to Parse REam but
quoted a lesser amount). At the 30 September meeting
Mr Divo put up two proposals to Mr Funj both of which would
be of great benefit to the collapsing Angus. CAppendix 49 -
Minutes of Meeting?. This meeting clearly showed that
Me Diro was prepared to help Angus by improperly allocating
the Vanimo extension resource either ta Mr Punj’s group
which would pay rovalties to Angus, or to AnQus itself,
atter Punj had injected it with substantial funds in retuwn
T Ehe exclusive right to buy Ewila loos. (Mr Funi agave

in campere evidence in Brisbane).

Propriety of Mr Diro’s Conduct:

v o Nirats conduct in relation to Angqus, while he
was Minister for Forests, was disgraceful and dishonest.

His co ezl T rorlation o some other matters, as disclosed
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during cross examination as to credit, was equally
disgraceful. BRefore the Commission he was also dishonest

as he clearly lied on cath aﬁd, to a large extent eventually
admitted those lies. In addition to his lies befare the
Commission he gave evidence which shows he has deliberately
made false declarations in his annual returns to the
Ombudaman Commission and in his income tax returns, both

of which are criminal offences.

While trying to explain various payments which he
received Mr Diro gave evidence which seriously compromises
the government of Vanuatu, probably without justifiéation;
At first he swore that he received consultancy fees from
the Vanuatu Government while he was a Minister of State.
He subsequently “"revised" this evidence and said it was

recelved from a firm known as "Mr Juicy".

One of twoe alternative explanations given far receiving
cash sums amounting to US134,000 dollars sericously
compromi sed General BRenny Murdani, the Chief of the
Indonesian Defence Force. The other explanation was that
the money was raised foorr Lim by an Australian Company, of
which he is or was a Director, and which was seeking a
timber concessicon on behalf of Chinese clients. He swore,
i bhis sowrsion, that the money was brought in secretly for
him by an Indonesian Military Attache stationed in Port
Moresby. The implications of this Indonesian connection
are sinister and its disclosure was followed by Mr Direo’s
resianaticon from the Ministry and had ramifications in Fapua

New Guinea’s foreigrn relations and within the Defoce Force.



Al though evidence given to the Commission canmat be
used as evidence in subsequent criminal or civil proceedings
I recommend that these matters should be referred to the
Chief Ombudsman and to the Chief Collector of Taxes for

independent investigation and follow up.

21. Vv OF FINDI 70 FORMAL. TERMS OF REFERENCE

The Commission’s inquiries are limited to matters which
are directly or indirectly related to the Terms of Reference
given it Ly thiz Prime Minister. A full coverage of the
terms of reference will be given in the Commission’s final
repurt bul in relation to Angus the following comments are

offered in this interim report.

Jerms 1 and 2 (F.I.C. involvement in marketing and the
o, benefits to PNG)

At a time when Angus (FNGE) Pty Ltd was clearly
insalvent and flagrantly in breach of many of its permit
conditions the Secretary of the Department of Forests,
very belatedly, recommended the cancellation of its permit.
In a lo ! rdesperate attempt to keep the company trading
hewever Minister Dira allowed the F.I.C. to manage Angus,
as had heen requested by the Credit Corporation. The Forest
Industries Council commenced as marketing manager on
27 October 1986, In its capacity as manaager the F.I.C.
took full responsibility for marketing and charged 3.9
e ot commission for its services., Ry December 1986,
the . 1.7, had taken over the full management and in this
Lo, by cbosianed an aoveement with Santa Investments

Pty Ltd. sppornting Santa as the Loaging contractor.

o
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The Forest Indusiries Council alsa took over management
of Angus' financial affairs controlling the disbursea.al of
the proceeds-of log sales paid through the F.I.C's bank

account.

The Forest Industries Council took responsibility for
marketing at a time when Angus and Sanko Nagoya had alrrady
carried out transfer pricing arrangements on the first
shipment, had put in place another scheme for the second
shipment and had commenced setting more sophisticated
transfer pricing arrangements into contracts for future
shipments. The evidence available at this stage indicates
that these transfer pricing arvangements were dismantled
once the F.1.C. took aver the management. If this is the
case then Papua New Guinea’s foreign earnings and perhaps

its revenue was increased by the F.I1.C. involvement.

The full study of this arrangement will be reported
o later in a report on F.I.C. activities. At this staqge
owover there seems to be considerable doubt whether there

was legal authority in the F.I1.0's charter for it to take

aver the management of Angus in this wav.

Terms 4 (Policy), 5 (Functions), 7 (Inter ference with

functions)

TE A o5 CPNEY Pty Ltd had been treated as a foreian
enterprise involved in a larqe log exporting operation it
il have been expected to fitjwithin Fart 3 ar Fart 4
of the 1979 fGuidelines. Under Fart 2 (Frocessing plus some
log exports) Lo o faary forus would have had to be on 1o al
processing and it would have had to show experience in s
st e sy operations and the marketing of the processed

timber. Under Fart 4 (log exporting anly) its activitie.



would have had to be combined with substantial additional
activities such as an agro-industrial project. Once again a
foreign enterprise would have had to demonstrate sufficient
experience, expertise, capital and marketing skill in all

aspects of the operation.

Angus (PNG) Pty Ltd managed to avoid these onerous
policy requirements by passing itself off as a national
company and by making token proposals for installing a
sawmill and for establishing some unspecified type of

agricultural project on land yet to be purchased.

If it had been treated as a foreign controlled
enterprise Angus(PNG) Pty Ltd would alsc have been expected
(according to forestry policy) to finance itself largely
from overseas capital. In fact, although it commenced
with an opening funds injection of about USD250,000. from
S8ingapore, Angus (Singapore) retrieved USD200,000. when
Charlie Koh intercepted the money due to Angus (PNG) Pty Ltd
from he first shipment advance (see page 26). The bulk of
Angus (PNG) funds was actually raised locally from the

following sourcest

(a) Bank of South Pacific overdraft facility
guaranteed by Angus (Singapore) and

John Kasaipwalovaj;

(b)Y Lease finance from Credit Corporation

guaranteed by J Kasaipwalova;

(c) 0Oft extended credit from many and

varied trade creditors;



(d) Auceptance of part salary paywents by

staff and executives;

(@) Non payment of group tax from emplovees?

salaries.

The only explanation why the rescurce was granted to
such an inappropriate and foreign controlled company was
that Minister Diro directed it and Secretary Mamalai
complied with the direction against the wunanimous, and
correct, advice of all senicr departmental aofficers involved

in caensidering the proposal.

Mr Diro’s motives in directing the allocation of the
ritEauves o Angus (PNG) Pty Ltd were for personal gain
(either for his personal financial gain or for the political
party which would benefit him personally). The conflict
between his role as Minister, in which he was exprocte:t to
receive and act upon correct departmental advice, and his
role as a 39% owner of Angus (PNGY Pty Lid «oo arvte.

This conflict led him to by-p.v o3 diar Lmental advice on some
ococcasions and to ignovre it oon others. Thus for instance,

tir bl iy mady decided to allocate the Gadaisu permit area
to Angus and had actually directed the Secretary to this
et four days before the Angus proposal was received.
When contrary, and clearly corvect, departmental advice wars,

received ' b aily danored it.

TJerm 8 (Improper Benefits)

Edward Ramu Dirc: My Daro and all hie associates
in Angie i to 0y msought oy received direct and TR RAFIETTIN A

benefits “vom Lhe allocatiorn of the permit to Anous.



(Dirc's benefits have been itemised in Section 19 aboave).

Oscar H;nalaiz The only apparant egplanatimn for his
activns is that he was receiving some benefit or that he was
sub jected to some cutside pressure which resulted in him
acting in favour of Angus and contrary to sound forestry
policy. Although he has admitted receiving improper
benefits in relation to other matters no direct evidence of

that nature was uncovered in relation to Angus.

J Ka-aipwalova and F C Cheah: They received benefits
by way of very high salaries and allowances. Ta the extent
that thean wero taken from an ailing company which was
unable to pay its creditors and unable to pay the royalties
owing to the government and landowners these benefits could
be described as excessive. This however is really a
question «f morality in the internal management of Angus
and not strictly within the Terms of Reference of this

Commission. gk ahended to benefit from Angus’ transfer

pricing schemes.

Magi Wopten Directors: These directars received a

cnti o aing stream of minor benefits in the way of Leips
to, and accommodation in, Port Move by, pocket money and
some gquite substantial lump o coowments. Under the
influence of these benefits they supported the application
B Ao Tor the Hadaisu timber permit and acquiesced in
the mancuvers which resulted in theiv own company and people
being pushi«! to .o side by Anagus and cheated of their
vightful profit from the exploitation of their own timbes

b =R L IR i -



Michael Cowan: Executive Director, F.I1.L. From Angus
Mr Cowan apparantly received 5$1736.55 (about K7390) for
accommodation expenses in Singapore in June 1986. What
other benefits he may have received through F.I.C.
connections is the subject of a separate inquiry.

Dennis Hoivos This Forestry Officer from Central
Provincial Forest Office admitted receiving a bribe of
K1,000 to acquiesce in the lcading and departure of the
first shipment of logs from Angus’ Operation before

payment of royalty and export tax.

‘Smuggling goods in on timber ships: One of the "side
benefits” to persons involved in shipping logs appears to
be smuggling duty free goods into Papua New Guinea.

The Commission has uncovered evidence of several instances
of this. In relation to Angus there is evidence that duty
free liquor was smugaled in on log ships loading at Mamai
on a regular basis. . The details of this evidence and

supporting documents are set out at Appendix 50.

Yerm 9 (Transfer Pricing)

All those who were party to the various Angus transfer
pricing schemes described in detail in Appendix 35 have

been deliberately frustrating government policy within the
meaning of this term of reference. The main people involved

weret M A Ang, Tan Sri Ghazali Shafei, Charlie Koh,
F C Cheah, John Kasaipwalova and E R Diro.

The purpose of the completed transfer pricing schemes
applied to the first two shipments was, apparantly, to avoid
tax in Papua New Guinea (by creating artifically high early

losses), to defraud Magi Wopten Development Fty Ltd and its

~\
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shareholders and to benefit Angus (PNG) Pty Ltd as the tax
free profits taken by Angus (Singapore) in Hong Kong were
eventually credited in the inter company loan accounts
againat Angus (PNG) Pty Limited debts. This whole *
arrangement was done contrary to foreign exchange

regul ations and without reference to the Central Bank.

The purposes behind the huge illegal profits anticipated
from the proposed six months continuing scheme are not so
clear. The beneficiaries were to set up separate personal
nominee company accounts to receive their shares. Mr Diro
states he intended to hold his share in some sort of trust
for the Peoples Action Party, ‘but under his own control.
Whether any portion would have been used for his own
personal benefit (as happened to some of the so-called
"campaign" funds in his Boroko US dollars account")

and what would have happened to the shares of his

co-conspirators must remain matters for conjecture.

The transfer pricing arrangements disclosed in the
Angus investigations are by no means isolated incidents.
The Commigsion’s investigations so far suggest that many
other companies are engaged in similar activities.

Angus is unique only in the fact that the whole scheme
has been so meticulously documented and that the documents

were "captured" by the Commission.

22. POSSIBLE CRIMINAL AND OT! OFFENCES

uLigapoﬁparffof the Commiz=sion’s role to prosecute
and convict for criminal offences disclosed during its
inguiries. I‘have taken the view however that where
the inquiries disclose the likely commission of criminal
or other offences, and where independent evidence of those

offences is available, those matters should be referved to

the police or other appropriate authority for investigation.
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or other offences, and where independent evidence «f those

offences is available, those matters should be referred Lo

the police or other apuropriate authority for investigation.

I accordingly recommend that the activities of the

following people and the following matters should be so

referred for investination:

(a)

(b)

(

C

p)

Referral to the Commissioner of Police -

Mchammad Abdullah Ang, Tan Sri Ghazali Shafei,
Foong Chin Cheah, John Kasaipwalova, Charlie Koh,
Edward Ramu Diro to consider appropriate criminal
charges r2lating to their conspivacy to defraud
the State, Magi Wopten Development Pty Ltd and,
perhaps, Angus (PN3) Pty Ltd by completed and

attempted transfer pricing schemes.

Referral to N.I.D.A. -

J Kasaipwalova, F C Cheah, Gerard Kassman and
o Diva for offences committed under the
NeI.D.A. Act. These offences relate to “he
failure to declare the fovreiagn interest and
cntval in Angus CPNGY Pty Ltd and fail: gy to
g0y for NLDTLDLAL. reqistration which resul ted
in Angus (PNGE) Pty Ltd carrying on business in

Fapua New fuinea without NIDA approval.

Referral to the Commissioner of Police ~

P Cheah and J Fasasipwalosa tor breaches of the

s i Panking Hot CForeion Exchange Resalations)




(d)

This offence concerns the acknowledgement (nnder
seal) of a foreign debt to Angus Investments Pte
Ltd of $(8ingapore) 523,000 in contravention of
the Act. Consideration should be given to alsr:

charging G Kassman with this of fence.

-

Referral to the Commissioner of Police,
the Registrar of Companies and the Papua New

Guinea ! aw Society —

G Kassman: The circumstances in which three
sepay.cte and different minutes all purporting
to be valid Minutes of the Angus (PNG) Pty Ltd
Directors Meeting held on the 1 November 1985
were prepared by G Kassman and the ladging of

false Returns at the Companies office siagned by

J KHasaipwalova should be referred to the Registrar

of Companies and the Commissioner of Police,
The e lessional ethics of Mr Hassman’s actions
in this matter should be referred to the Papua

Mew Guinea Law Society for attention.



(@)

f)

(g}

Referral to the Chief Collector of Taxes and the

Chief Ombudsman Commission —

E R DIRD: The false Declarations made by Mr Diro
in his Returns to the Ombudsman Commission andd

to the Chief Collector of Taxes, as detailed

in this Repart, should be referred to those
authorities to be investigated for possible

prosecution or other follow up action.

Referral to the Commissioner of Police -

6 Kassman, J Kasaipwalova and Sir Tore | ckoloko:
These three were involved in the issuing and
allocating of new share capital in Angus (PNG)
Fty Ltd without giving proper notice to Angus
Investments FPte Ltd which was then in liquida-
tion. The intenticon was to reduce that Company’s
beneficial ocwnership in Angus (PNG) Pty Ltd from
%1 per cent to 2.266 per cent. It seems that a
sericus criminal offence was committed at least
by Mr Kassman and possibly by all three.

It should be referred to the Commissioner of
Police for investigation as, even if the purported
share issue was leqgally ineffective, the attempt

would constitute a criminal offence.

Referral to the Commissioner of Police -

f. siis Hoivo: My Hoive's action in receiving
the sum ot K1,000 from Angus (PNGY Pty Ltd to
clear the first shipment should be investigated
ar. w o ffence relating to the acceptance of a

bBribe as a pblic servantb.



(h)

(i

Referral to the Collector of Customs -

F C Cheah: The circumstances surrounding the
importation of the Jaguar motor car, the .
preparation and presentation of false documents
and the evasion of duty should be referred to
the Collector of Customs. It is quite clear
that a fa]sé invoice was prepared at the request
of F C Cheah and presented to Customs and this
would be an offence under the Customs Act,

Ch. No.202. The role of the Customs Agent and

Mr Dirc’s involvement should also be investigated.

It seems clear that the Jaqgquar itself should be
forefeit to the State pursuant to Section 146

Customs Act.

Referral to the Collector of Customs —

The civ ot < 28 whereby duty free liqﬁﬁr wWas
apparantly =muagled into the country on Angus
NG Pey Ltd log ships, as referred to at

page S and detailed in Appendix 50 should be

irnveastigabed.

0



23. CONCLUSION

The months spent on the Angus inquiry confirmed most
of the suspicions which had originally attracted the
" Commission’s attention and this is shown by the findings.
The Inquiry has also disclosed valuable information on
deficiencies in forestry policy and legislation and the
various devices being employed by some timber companies
to benefit from these deficiencies. These matters will

be drawn together in the Commission’s final report.
4

Although I have tried to limit this interim report to
matters relating to the Angus Group of Companies and the
Gadaisu permit area there is of course considerable overlap
with other matters being investigated by the Commission.
Some of the people involved will no doubt appear again in

later reports.
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